ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Anderson County

R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHNNY LEE BURTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001733

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUL 02 2018

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the judge err in denying Appellant's request for re-sentencing where he received a *mandatory* sentence of life imprisonment *with* the possibility of parole, which is the functional equivalent of life imprisonment *without* the possibility of parole, because (1) the sentence does not afford a meaningful opportunity for release as evidenced by his repeated denials of parole and (2) the statutory scheme governing parole does not provide for consideration of the characteristics attendant to youth?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 5, 1994, an Anderson County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (1994-GS-04-825). R. 21-22. According to the indictment, there was a shooting on January 22, 1994. R. 21-22. Less than three months later, on April 12, 1994, Appellant was tried before a judge and a jury. R. 28; R. 23. The presiding judge sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment, which was the mandatory sentence at the time for a murder conviction. R. 23.

On October 24, 2016, Appellant filed a motion for re-sentencing. R. 10. On November 2, 2016, the Supreme Court vested the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse with exclusive jurisdiction over the motion. R. 16. By a motion filed July 19, 2017, the state moved to dismiss. R. 18. Judge Sprouse presided over a hearing on August 9, 2017, to discuss the state's motion. R. 1. Catherine Huey represented the state, and Jennifer Johnson represented Appellant. R. 1. By an order signed on August 9, 2017, Judge Sprouse dismissed Appellant's request for re-sentencing. R. 19.

On August 14, 2017, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009)(quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

ARGUMENT

In violation of the state and federal constitutions, the judge erred in denying Appellant's request for re-sentencing where he received a *mandatory* sentence of life imprisonment *with* the possibility of parole, which is the functional equivalent of life imprisonment *without* the possibility of parole, because (1) the sentence does not afford a meaningful opportunity for release as evidenced by his repeated denials of parole and (2) the statutory scheme governing parole does not provide for consideration of the characteristics attendant to youth.

Relevant facts

At the time of the offense for which Appellant stands convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment, he was seventeen years old. R. 5, ll. 2-3; R. 8, ll. 10-15; R. 10; R. 18; R. 19. When he committed the offense at seventeen, Appellant had the same mental capacity as other seventeen-year olds who were sentenced to life without the possibility of parole. R. 5, ll. 14-23. Although Appellant went before the Parole Board in 2014 and 2016, he was denied parole based upon “unchangeable circumstances.” R. 2, ll. 15-17; R. 10. Appellant was a “model inmate,” who took advantage of any and all opportunities available to him in prison, including working in the medical facility, obtaining a high school diploma, and learning a trade in brick masonry. R. 6, ll. 4-9.

The Parole Board refused to consider Appellant's age at the time of the offense because the law and the sentencing court made no distinction between juveniles and adults. R. 5, l. 25 – R. 6, l. 4. As such, Appellant argued, he had not received a meaningful opportunity for release. R. 5, l. 25 – R. 6, l. 4; R. 10. Appellant argued that he was “similarly situated” to juveniles who had been sentenced to life without the possibility of parole because the Parole Board refused to consider the characteristics attendant to youth and was permitted by statute to deny him parole

based upon the nature of the offense alone. R. 5, ll. 11-13; R. 5, l. 23; R. 10. As explained by Appellant, he was unable to present anything to the Parole Board that would ensure the characteristics attendant to youth were being considered by the Board in rendering its decision. R. 3, ll. 3-12.

The state argued simply that Appellant was not entitled to re-sentencing because he was not sentenced to life without the possibility of parole. R. 18. In the state's view, re-sentencing was limited to only those juveniles who were sentenced to life without the possibility of parole, and no one else. R. 18. Accordingly, the state argued to dismiss Appellant's motion for re-sentencing. R. 2, ll. 14-19; R. 18.

Judge Sprouse determined Appellant was not a candidate for re-sentencing because he was parole eligible. R. 4, ll. 8-19. In his estimation, only individuals sentenced to life without parole were entitled to be re-sentenced. R. 4, ll. 8-19; R. 19. Judge Sprouse commended Appellant, finding he had "done well" and was a "model prisoner." R. 7, ll. 1-2. However, Judge Sprouse refused to grant Appellant the opportunity for re-sentencing because he believed Appellant was not "similarly situated" to juveniles sentenced to life imprisonment without parole because Appellant's mandatory life sentence was parole eligible. R. 7, ll. 3-6; R. 19.

Discussion

Introduction

"[C]hildren are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing." Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012). On June 25, 2012, the United States Supreme Court held mandatory sentences of life without parole (LWOP) imposed upon juveniles violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Id. at 479. Beginning in 2005 with its decision in Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the Supreme Court began a steady evolution of juvenile

justice jurisprudence applicable to the states and federal government. In Roper, the Court held death sentences for juveniles were cruel and unusual punishment. Four years later, the Court held that a LWOP sentence imposed upon a juvenile for a non-homicide offense violated the Eighth Amendment's ban on cruel and unusual punishment. Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010). Not surprisingly, when presented with the question of whether mandatory LWOP sentences for juveniles in homicide cases violated the Eighth Amendment, the Supreme Court held they did. Miller, 567 U.S. at 479.

“To determine whether a punishment is cruel and unusual, courts must look beyond historical conceptions to ‘the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.’” Graham, 560 U.S. at 58 (quoting Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976)). “Embodied in the Constitution’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment is the ‘precept of justice that punishment for the crime should be graduated and proportioned to [the] offense.’” Id. at 59 (quoting Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 367 (1910)). Over the years, the cases addressing the proportionality of sentences have developed along two general lines. The first is concerned with the particular circumstances of the case and whether the defendant’s sentence for a term of years is grossly disproportionate given the particular offense. Graham, 560 U.S. at 59; Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1005 (1991). The second classification of cases is concerned with categorical rules as applied to groups of offenses or groups of offenders. Graham, 560 U.S. at 60-61. For example, Supreme Court categorical rulings related to categories of offenses prohibit the imposition of the death penalty for non-homicide crimes against individuals. Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407 (2008). Categorical rulings prior to Graham prohibited the death penalty for defendants who committed their crimes before the age of eighteen, Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), or whose suffered from intellectual disability, Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002).

When adopting categorical proportionality rules, the Court first considers “objective indicia of society’s standards, as expressed in legislative enactments and state practice” to determine whether there is a national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue. Id. at 61 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 572). Generally, the Court has relied on social science data and statistics to discern “society’s evolving standards of decency.” Roper, 543 U.S. at 560-77. “[G]uided by ‘the standards elaborated by controlling precedents and by the Court’s own understanding and interpretation of the Eighth Amendment’s text, history, meaning, and purpose,’” the Court, in the exercise of its own independent judgment, then determines whether the punishment in question violates the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution. Graham, 560 U.S. at 61 (quoting Kennedy, 554 U.S. at 421).

It was upon this backdrop that the United States Supreme Court decided Roper, Graham, and Miller. Not long after the Court’s opinion in Miller, our Supreme Court reviewed non-mandatory life sentences for juveniles in South Carolina through the lens of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. In Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 540-541, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575-576 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that Miller applied retroactively and to juveniles who were sentenced to non-mandatory terms of life without parole. Finding that “Miller does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant’s juvenility on the sentence rendered,” the Court held the sentencing judge must “take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison” and that this requirement “deserves universal application.” Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577. Id. (internal quotations omitted). The Court held the class of petitioners in the case “and those similarly situated” were “entitled to resentencing to allow the inmates to present evidence specific to their

attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in light of its constitutional weight.” Id. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

Following Miller, courts have confronted the question of what constitutes a “life without parole sentence,” particularly, in light of the Court’s mandate that juvenile offenders *must* be afforded a *meaningful opportunity* for release unless there has been a finding of irreparable corruption. In order to answer this question, a review of the evolution of the Court’s Eighth Amendment jurisprudence as it applies to juveniles is of assistance and of particular import to Appellant’s appeal.

No death penalty for children

In Roper, the Supreme Court established a categorical ban on the death penalty for juveniles relying in large part on social science research indicating that youths have a lessened culpability and are less deserving of the most severe punishments. 543 U.S. at 569-75. Juvenile offenders are fundamentally different from adults for purposes of sentencing for three reasons: (1) they are immature and have “an underdeveloped sense of responsibility;” (2) they “are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure;” and (3) their characters are “not as well formed” as adults. Id. at 569-70 (internal citations omitted). “It is difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id. at 573. Therefore, “juvenile offenders cannot with reliability be classified among the worst offenders.” Id. While “[a] juvenile is not absolved of responsibility for his actions,” his transgressions are “not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

No LWOP for children convicted of non-homicide offenses

Sixteen-year old Terrance Graham was charged with armed burglary and attempted armed robbery of a barbeque restaurant. 560 U.S. at 53. Graham entered guilty pleas to both charges pursuant to a plea agreement. The trial court withheld adjudication of guilt as to both charges and sentenced Graham to concurrent three-year terms of probation with jail time. *Id.* at 54. Shortly thereafter, when Graham was seventeen-years old he was arrested again and charged with home invasion robbery. Graham's probation officer charged Graham with violating the terms of his probation by "possessing a firearm, committing crimes, and associating with persons engaging in criminal activity." When Graham appeared before the trial court where he maintained he had no involvement in the home invasion robbery, he admitted to violating his probation by fleeing arrest, even though the trial court emphasized that the admission could expose him to a life sentence based on his previous charges. *Id.* at 55.

After finding Graham had violated his probation, the trial judge, in his discretion, sentenced Graham to the maximum sentence of life. During the sentencing proceeding, the judge provided his reasoning for the sentence: "We can't do anything to deter you. This is the way you are going to lead your life.... [T]hat is where we are today is I don't see where I can do anything to help you any further." *Id.* at 56-57. Florida had abolished its parole system; accordingly, the life sentence gave Graham no possibility of release unless he was granted executive clemency. *Id.* at 57.

The Supreme Court held that "for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole." *Id.* at 74. Just as the Court did in Roper, the Graham Court, relied upon developments in social science demonstrating the fundamental differences between juveniles and adults:

[D]evelopments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. For example, parts of the brain

involved in behavior control continue to mature through late adolescence. Juveniles are more capable of change than are adults, and their actions are less likely to be evidence of irretrievably depraved character than are the actions of adults. It remains true that from a moral standpoint it would be misguided to equate the failings of a minor with those of an adult, for a greater possibility exists that a minor's character deficiencies will be reformed.

Id. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

The Court explained the decision was “necessary to prevent the possibility that life without parole sentences will be imposed on juvenile non-homicide offenders who are not sufficiently culpable to merit that punishment.” Id. at 74. Although “[a] state is not required to guarantee the eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a non-homicide crime,” the state must “give defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” Id. “[W]hile the Eighth Amendment forbids a State from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile non-homicide offender, it does not require the state to release that offender during his natural life.” Id. at 75. “The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of non-homicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life. It does forbid states from making the judgment at the outset that those offenders never will be fit to reenter society.” Id.

While explaining its rationale, the Graham Court noted that a life without parole sentence is the “second most severe penalty permitted by law.” Id. at 69 (internal citations omitted). Additionally, “life without parole sentences share some characteristics with death sentences that are shared by no other sentences.” Such a sentence “alters the offender’s life by a forfeiture that is irrevocable.” Id. For a juvenile offender, a life without parole sentence “means denial of hope; it means that good behavior and character improvement are immaterial; it means that whatever the future might hold in store for the mind and spirit [of the convict], he will remain in prison for the rest of his days.” Id. at 70 (quoting Naovarath v. State, 779 P.2d 944 (Nev. 1989)). Additionally,

the Graham Court observed that a juvenile offender sentenced to life without parole will on average serve more years and a greater percentage of his life in prison than an adult offender. “A 16-year-old and a 75-year-old each sentenced to life without parole receive the same punishment in name only.” Id.

Finally, the Graham Court concluded that its new categorical rule “gives all juvenile non-homicide offenders a chance to demonstrate maturity and reform.” Id. at 79. “Life in prison without the possibility of parole gives no chance for reconciliation with society, no hope.” Id. However, “[m]aturity can lead to that considered reflection which is the foundation for remorse, renewal, and rehabilitation. A young person who knows that he or she has no chance to leave prison before life’s end has little incentive to become a responsible individual.” Id. By imposing a “categorical rule against life without parole for juvenile non-homicide offenders,” the Court avoided “the perverse consequences in which the lack of maturity that led to an offender’s crime is reinforced by the prison term.” Id.

No mandatory LWOP sentences for children

In Miller, supra, the United States Supreme Court continued the evolution of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. The Court extended the reasoning of Roper and Graham by holding that mandatory sentences of life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders also violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. Miller, 567 U.S. at 465. This was a categorical ban. However, the Court further explained that while the decision did not foreclose imposition of a sentence without the possibility of a parole on a juvenile convicted of a homicide offense, the Court required the sentencer “to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id. at 479-480.

The Miller Court reserved ruling on whether juveniles could ever be sentenced to LWOP. Id. at 479. The Miller Court repeatedly focused on the notion that the character traits of children are “more transitory and less fixed.” Id. at 471. Children by definition lack maturity and responsibility; thus, they are more likely to act with “recklessness, impulsivity, and needless risk-taking.” Id. at 471-472. The Court eloquently explained that due to the innate characteristics of children at large, there is a “great difficulty ... of distinguishing at this early age between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id. at 479-480. In fact, the Court stated “incorrigibility is inconsistent with youth.” Id. at 472-473. The Court emphasized the potential for reform present in all juveniles. The Court emphasized the mitigating qualities of youth and noted “[i]t is a time of immaturity, irresponsibility, ‘impetuosity[,] and recklessness.’” Id. at 476 (quoting Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 115 (1982)).

Although the Miller Court did not hold LWOP to be an unconstitutional sentence in non-mandatory sentencing schemes, the Court held Eighth Amendment jurisprudence governing imposition of death sentences applied equally to cases involving juveniles facing the possibility of LWOP. Id. at 481-482. The Court’s decision created a presumption against LWOP sentences for juveniles, and most importantly, the Court imported the principles of capital sentencing into cases where juveniles face the possibility of LWOP. Specifically, the court explained that “death is different” and “children are different too.” Id. at 481.

“The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment ‘guarantees individuals the right not to be subjected to excessive sanctions.’” Id. at 469 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 560). The Miller Court emphasized that “proportionality is central to the Eighth Amendment.” Id. (quoting Graham, 560 U.S. at 59). Focusing on the concept of individualized

sentencing, the Court recognized “that children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Id. at 471. Children “have diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform,” and therefore, ““they are less deserving of the most severe punishments.”” Id. (quoting Graham, 560 U.S. at 68). “[T]he distinctive attributes of youth diminish penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences on juvenile offenders, even when they commit terrible crimes.” Id. at 473. As a result, “[a]n offender’s age is relevant to the Eighth Amendment.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 76. In light of the relevance to the ban on cruel and unusual punishment, “imposition of a State’s most severe penalties on juvenile offenders cannot proceed as though they were not children.” Miller, 567 U.S. at 474.

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