ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Anderson County  
Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2017-001733

---

RECEIVED

JUN 20 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JOHNNY LEE BURTON,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID R. WAGNER  
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

100 South Main Street  
Anderson, SC 29624  
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

## ARGUMENT

**Appellant's appellate challenge to the circuit court judge's ruling denying and dismissing the motion for resentencing was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not raise any of the arguments Appellant is currently raising on appeal and, instead, conceded to the circuit court judge Appellant was not entitled to resentencing for the murder he committed at the age of seventeen in light of the fact he received a parole-eligible life sentence. However, notwithstanding any issue preservation concerns, the circuit court judge correctly dismissed and denied Appellant's motion for resentencing because Appellant's parole-eligible life sentence afforded and continues to afford Appellant a meaningful opportunity to obtain release from incarceration through the parole process and, as a result, was and is in no way unconstitutional.**

Appellant contends the circuit court judge committed reversible error by dismissing and denying the motion for resentencing pursuant Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), and Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). In support of that contention, Appellant maintains his parole-eligible life sentence is unconstitutional because: (1) his sentence is the functional equivalent of life without parole due to the fact the parole board in South Carolina has allegedly failed to consider the factors identified in Miller when it denied him parole on two prior occasions; (2) he allegedly did not receive consideration of his youth when he was sentenced for murder or when he has been considered for parole; and (3) "the South Carolina Constitution's bar against cruel and unusual punishment prohibits sentencing a juvenile offender to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole after service of twenty years where the parole board fails to consider the 'unique characteristics of youth.' " Notably though, *none* of those arguments was presented to the circuit court judge. Instead, defense counsel *conceded* Appellant was not entitled to resentencing pursuant to the applicable appellate decisions in light of the fact he was eligible for parole while further maintaining any issues related to South Carolina's parole process were not properly before the circuit court judge. Thus, as Appellant's appellate arguments were not presented to or ruled upon by the circuit court judge, those arguments were not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be raised

or considered for the first time on appeal. However, regardless of any issue preservation concerns, Appellant's parole-eligible life sentence for a murder he committed at the age of seventeen has afforded him and continues to afford him a meaningful avenue by which he could and still can obtain release from incarceration based on demonstrated maturity, rehabilitation, and growth. In light of that fact, Appellant's sentence of life *with parole* was not and is not unconstitutional. Accordingly, the circuit court judge properly declined to unnecessarily relitigate Appellant's sentence decades after Appellant gunned down his victim, and the circuit court judge's decision to dismiss and deny the motion for resentencing was entirely correct. The circuit court judge's ruling should be affirmed.

**A. Appellant's Failure to Preserve the Arguments He is Raising on Appeal**

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is "to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review." Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity "to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and *arguments*." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (emphasis added); see generally Unemployment Compensation Comm'n of Alaska v. Aragan, 329 U.S. 143, 155 (1946) ("A reviewing court usurps the agency's function when it sets aside the administrative determination upon a ground not theretofore presented and deprives the Commission of an opportunity to consider the matter, make its ruling, and state the reasons for its action.").

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 185 (3rd ed. 2016) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). If an issue—including a constitutional one—is not presented to and ruled upon by the circuit court judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appeal.”). Critically, on appeal, an appellant is limited solely to the grounds raised at trial and is precluded from raising a different argument from the one raised to the circuit court judge. State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997); see State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (recognizing a party cannot argue one ground in support of an issue at trial and then argue an alternative ground on appeal); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”).

In the case sub judice, Appellant contends the circuit court judge erred by denying and dismissing the motion for resentencing. In making such a contention, Appellant, who was seventeen years old at the time of the murder, maintains his parole-eligible life sentence was unconstitutional “on its face and as applied” and is the “functional equivalent” of a life sentence

without the possibility of parole. As support for that particular argument, Appellant maintains the parole process in South Carolina is flawed because the parole board allegedly does not consider an offender's youth at the time of the offense "at all" and because the parole board allegedly did not consider "the hallmarks of youth" when it twice denied him parole. For those reasons, Appellant maintains he is constitutionally entitled to have his sentence vacated and to be resentenced for the murder he committed as a juvenile pursuant to both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution.

Importantly though, during the circuit court proceedings, defense counsel did not argue to the circuit court judge Appellant's sentence was unconstitutional or the functional equivalent of life without parole. Likewise, defense counsel did not argue Appellant was entitled to resentencing based on issues related to South Carolina's parole process or pursuant to the decisions in Aiken, Miller, or any other relevant appellate case. Instead, defense counsel *conceded* the Aiken decision was not applicable to Appellant's case in light of the fact Appellant received a parole-eligible life sentence as opposed to a sentence of life without the possibility of parole, responded affirmatively when the circuit court judge indicated he did not have the authority to grant resentencing to Appellant in light of his eligibility for parole, and asserted any issues related to the parole process went beyond the scope of the matter before the circuit court judge.<sup>2</sup> See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (recognizing an issue conceded during trial cannot subsequently be argued on appeal); see also State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (finding an appellate argument involving a jury

---

<sup>2</sup> Specifically, defense counsel stated: "His problem, Your Honor, is that what is a meaningful chance of parole? I think that goes beyond the scope of this hearing, and it's not a matter of what's before the court. But that is his frustration, how do I present something to the parole board if not given the opportunity to look at the Miller factors that are enunciated in Aiken v. Byars, but the case does appear to specifically apply to individuals who have received a life without the possibility of parole sentence." (R. p. 3).

instruction to be unpreserved because defense counsel explicitly stated he had no objection to the trial judge's instruction).

Because defense counsel did not raise any of the arguments Appellant is now attempting to raise on appeal, the circuit court judge was wholly denied an opportunity to consider, address, or rule upon those arguments when resolving the matter before him. See Queen's Grant, 368 S.C. at 372-373, 628 S.E.2d at 919 ("Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." (citations omitted)). Critically, without first giving the circuit court judge an opportunity to address his constitutional claims regarding the propriety of his sentence and the parole process, Appellant is precluded from raising those claims for the first time on appeal in seeking to get the circuit court judge's ruling reversed. See State v. McCray, 222 S.C. 391, 394, 73 S.E.2d 1, 2 (1952) (finding McCray's appellate contention the sentence imposed was "cruel and excessive" was unavailable to him on appeal because that particular contention was not raised to the circuit court judge); see also I'On, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 ("The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred."). As a result, Appellant's appellate challenge to the circuit court judge's ruling is not properly preserved for appellate review and simply cannot appropriately be raised or addressed for the first time on appeal. See State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 156-157, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000) (finding Benton's appellate challenge to the trial judge's refusal to give a requested charge was not preserved for appellate review where Benton "argued one ground in support of a circumstantial evidence charge at trial (State only presented circumstantial evidence of intent) and argues another ground in support of the charge on appeal (palm print is circumstantial evidence)"); In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387,

392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.”); see also State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”). The circuit court judge’s ruling should be affirmed.

**B. Propriety of the Circuit Court Judge’s Decision to Dismiss and Deny the Motion for Resentencing**

Generally speaking, the issue of an incarcerated inmate’s eligibility for parole is an entirely separate and independent issue from the issue of an appropriate and proper sentence for a defendant convicted of a criminal offense. State v. McKay, 300 S.C. 113, 115, 386 S.E.2d 623, 623 (1989). In South Carolina, the responsibility for determining whether an incarcerated inmate meets the requirements for parole is statutorily assigned to the state’s parole board, which is required by law to “carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during, and after imprisonment” in determining whether parole should be granted. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640 (Supp. 2017); see State v. Dingle, 376 S.C. 643, 649, 659 S.E.2d 101, 104 (2008) (“[T]he parole board has the sole authority to determine parole eligibility separate and apart from the court’s authority to sentence a defendant.”). Meanwhile, trial judges in our state are tasked with imposing a defendant’s sentence upon conviction and are vested with broad discretion to carry out that duty. See State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008) (“A judge or other sentencing authority is to be accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence, and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed.”).

Despite the broad discretion afforded to South Carolina’s trial judges, both the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution place limits on a trial judge’s sentencing discretion by prohibiting the imposition of



cruel and unusual punishment. See U.S. Const. amend. VIII (“Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 15 (“Excessive bail shall not be required . . . nor shall cruel, nor corporal, nor unusual punishment be inflicted[.]”). Pursuant to the ban on cruel and unusual punishment, a defendant’s sentence must not be “barbaric” and must be graduated and proportioned to the offense in order to pass constitutional muster. Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 284 (1983); see Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 311 (2002) (instructing it is a precept of justice the punishment for a crime should be graduated and proportioned to the offense).

Notably, in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 81 (2010), a narrow majority of the United States Supreme Court concluded the imposition of a life sentence *without the possibility of parole* upon a juvenile offender who committed a non-homicide offense was violative of the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. In reaching that conclusion, the Supreme Court applied its own “independent judgment” and determined life without parole sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders were unconstitutional due to the lessened culpability of juveniles, the severity and irrevocable nature of life without parole sentences, and the lack of sufficient penalogical justifications for the sentencing practice in regard to juveniles. Id. at 74. As a result, the Supreme Court held a state must “give [juvenile non-homicide] defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity for release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” Id. at 75. Importantly though, the Supreme Court placed careful limits on its holding by explaining a state is neither “required to guarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile offender” nor required “to release that offender during his natural life.” Id. To the contrary, the Supreme Court instructed:

Those who commit truly horrifying crimes as juveniles may turn out to be irredeemable, and thus deserving of incarceration for the

duration of their lives. The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of nonhomicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life.

Id.

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